WHAT IS THE IMPACT OF THE INNERVISIONS TREATMENT CENTRE'S FAMILY PROGRAM ON CLIENTS AND THEIR FAMILIES?

By

BILLY WESELOWSKI

A proposal submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF ARTS

In

LEADERSHIP AND TRAINING

We accept this proposal as conforming

To the required standard

InnerVisions Recovery Society, Project Sponsor
Bob Kirby, Board Member, Project Sponsor
Darryl Plecas, Ed. D, Faculty Project Supervisor
ROYAL ROADS UNIVERSITY

Doug Hamilton, PhD, Committee Chair

April, 2004 project approved and signed above

© Billy Weselowski, 2004

Acknowledgements

A report of this magnitude could not have been completed without the support of a wide range of individuals. I would like to acknowledge and thank the following people, all of whom made valuable contributions to the undertaking and completion of this Research Project:

Bob Kirby: Project Sponsor, Editing, Qualitative and Quantitative Analysis

Cory Wint: Project Design, Qualitative and Quantitative Analysis

Ted Conroy: Questionnaire Design

Jerry Topley: Questionnaire Design

Loraine Ho Sui: Editing

Tyler McAuley: Document Retrieval, Participant Enrollment

Teresa McLellan: Group Facilitation

Frank Veeken: Group Facilitation

Aaron Davis: Questionnaire Design

Finally, I would like to thank InnerVisions' Board of Directors, for without their support this Research Project would not have been the success it has.

Billy Weselowski

Researcher

Table of Contents

CHAPTER ONE – STUDY BACKGROUND	7
THE PROBLEM/OPPORTUNITY	7
Impact/Significance of the Problem/Opportunity	9
Potential Causes of the Problem/Factors Contributing to the Opportunity	10
THE ORGANIZATION	11
Potential Research Sponsor	11
Information Review	12
InnerVisions Family Program	12
Starter Kit	13
CHAPTER TWO – LITERATURE REVIEW	15
REVIEW OF ORGANIZATIONAL DOCUMENTS	15
REVIEW OF SUPPORTING LITERATURE	16
Introduction	16
Modalities of Treatment	19
FAMILY INVOLVEMENT	23
Family Programs	25
Conclusion	26
POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS TO THE PROBLEM	28
Evaluation of Family Programs	28
CHAPTER THREE-CONDUCT OF RESEARCH STUDY	29
RESEARCH METHODS	29

PROJECT MILESTONES/SCHEDULE	30
PROJECT PARTICIPANTS	31
PROJECT BUDGET	33
CHAPTER FOUR-RESEARCH STUDY RESULTS	34
Section One	34
Section Two	39
Section Three	44
Section Four	50
Section Five	54
Section Six	61
STUDY CONCLUSIONS	62
STUDY RECOMMENDATIONS	65
CHAPTER FIVE-RESEARCH IMPLICATIONS	66
ORGANIZATION IMPLEMENTATION	66
FUTURE RESEARCH	66
RESEARCH PROJECT LESSONS LEARNED	66
REFERENCES	75
Appendix 1 Questionnaire	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. How close would your rate your family in terms of being connected?*	35
Table 2. To what degree has addiction negatively affected your family's finances? *	36
Table 3. To what degree do you feel respected in your family? *	36
Table 4. Generally, to what degree do you respect other family members? *	37
Table 5. How often do family members show disrespect to each other? *	37
Table 6. Do you think there is a problem with drinking and/or using in your family? *	38
Table 7. How serious do you consider this problem to be, not including the person in treatme	
*	
Table 8. How has addiction affected your ability to participate in family activities? *	
Table 9. How has addiction affected your family's medical health? *	
Table 10. To what degree has addition affected your family's physical activities? *	
Table 11. To what degree has addiction affected your family's mental wellness? *	41
Table 12. To what degree has addiction affected your family's emotional wellness? *	42
Table 13. To what degree has addiction affected trust in your family? *	42
Table 14. To what degree has addiction affected trust in your self? *	43
Table 15. To what degree has addiction affected your ability to keep your promises and commitments to your family? *	43
Table 16. To what degree has addiction affected your ability to keep your promises and commitments to yourself? *	44
Table 17. How would you rate your communication skills? *	45
Table 18. How would you rate your conflict resolution/problem solving skills? *	46
Table 19. How would you rate your ability to express your feelings in an honest and open wa	-
Table 20. How would you rate your listening skills? *	47
Table 21. How often do you feel misunderstood by family members? *	47
Table 22. How often do you shut down mentally when faced with a family conflict? *	48
Table 23. To what degree are you able to hear positive feedback about yourself? *	48
Table 24. To what degree are you able to hear negative feedback about yourself? *	49
Table 25. How would you rate the level and quality of communication in your family? *	49
Table 26. How often do you argue in your family? *	
Table 27. To what level do these arguments usually get to? *	
Table 28. Have you had any previous alcohol and drug education/awareness? *	

Table 29. Have you been educated with the disease model of addiction? *	52
Table 30. How important do you think a family education on addiction is to the family recording process? *	
Table 31. How important do you believe things like eating together and quality time are to recovery process? *	
Table 32. How often do you attend 12 Step Meetings together? *	53
Table 33. How often do you read recovery information together? *	54
Table 34. How often do you spend individual one on one time together? *	54
Table 35. Do you believe in a higher power of some sort? *	56
Table 36. Do you believe in spirituality is important to the family recovery process? *	56
Table 37. How vital is honesty to the family recovery process? *	57
Table 38. How important is self-honesty to the family recovery process? *	57
Table 39. How often do you ignore the facts to protect your family? *	58
Table 40. How do you rate your awareness of community resources in your local area? *	58
Table 41. In helping the family recovery process, how important is an understanding of reseavailable in your community? *	
Table 42. How important is accessing these community resources helpful to the family recoprocess? *	-
Table 43. Are you aware of family support groups in your community? *	60
Table 44. How important is timely access to the resources in your community? *	60
Table 45. How important is supporting your family in accessing these community resource	s? *61
Table 46. Are you aware of any private family counselling services in your area? *	62
Table 47. Have you had previous counselling? *	62

Chapter One – Study Background

The Problem/Opportunity

This thesis was about addiction, addiction treatment, family involvement, InnerVisions programs, the InnerVisions Family Program, and the evaluation of that family program. It was well documented that addiction was a prevalent problem in society. There was a multiplicity of strategies that addressed this problem, ranging from attending twelve step groups, private counselling, day and evening programs, and residential treatment programs.

The term "family/aftercare" described the ability to provide services to the families of someone who was affiliated with the disease of addiction, during and after leaving a treatment centre. One major problem was the lack of resources available for family systems to receive assistance when a family member was in residential treatment. The InnerVisions Recovery Society operated residential treatment programs for over twelve years, and it was our experience that we became inundated with requests from clients to assist family units as a whole, as resources in our community were just not available.

InnerVisions dealt primarily in residential treatment for both men and women. There were many casual conversations with staff, clients and other professionals in regards to family involvement in treatment, aftercare, or both. The fact was that almost everyone with whom I discussed this issue agreed that services were needed; yet they were either (a) not in place, (b) not readily accessible, or (c) not affordable. Additionally, there was a lack of local empirical data which certainly needed to be addressed.

The organization began to view the family unit and addiction in a different context, and through a learning lens. As a result, we looked very carefully at the family unit and the barriers that hindered a family's wellness. We developed a family program that was available to family

members of clients attending our treatment centres which made us ask the question: What is the impact of the InnerVisions Treatment Centre's Family Program on clients and their families?

I recently encountered two situations that highlighted this issue. An elderly couple came to have a counselling session with me. Their daughter, in addiction for 20 years, was in residence at our women's facility, Hannah House. The mother and father both were completely bewildered as to having any understanding about the disease of addiction and what services were available for their daughter as well as for themselves. The financial devastation that addiction had caused the mother and father had been horrific. What I have described is not uncommon whatsoever in the 14-½ years that I have been involved with helping people. Another situation that came to mind occurred when a woman who brought her son for treatment told me that her son had manipulated and coerced her entire life savings, including her formerly mortgage-free house. Unfortunately, this example was very common.

When I asked them what they had done over the years in order to address this problem, they told me that all they knew about was going to Al-Anon and trying to access government-funded services, which were usually delayed because of the overwhelming need. The other plan of action was private counselling, which was at times very expensive or not affordable. Clearly, my experience showed that there were very limited avenues for families to receive help in my community.

We believed that knowing the rest of the family was receiving some assistance was comforting to the individual who was actually in residence. One of the significant areas we wanted to explore was the relationship between families reinforcing the cycle of addiction as opposed to deterring the same cycle.

We believed that this research needed to be done because our organization currently encompassed men and women who could now access residential treatment. Because of this evolution, we were faced with the simple fact that the women have forced us to face a new reality.

One area of difficulty was that a man or woman could come into our centres and be surrounded with help and attention 24-hours a day, while the rest of the family unit received small attention. If they were unaware of what help was available in the community, this lack of knowledge became very revealing when talking to other family members who were involved with residential treatment.

Family members described that at times they felt like they were being left behind and articulated that they were not growing and progressing at the same rate as the in-house resident. Family members went on to explain that in fact, the gap of attention was quite often stressful on the other family members, noticeably in the area of communication.

A simple set of questions put to the clients on May 2, 2002, showed that the clients wanted family involvement for two main reasons: (a) to educate family on addiction the way they have been educated, and (b) to help bridge the emotional gap created by addiction. Using the above-mentioned measurement tool indicated that our organization was lacking in these areas.

Impact/Significance of the Problem/Opportunity

My experience was that the impact on families with respect to addiction had been utter devastation. The value of a healthy family as a support mechanism was a "given," however, our records reflected that there was a major breakdown in most cases. What we hoped to discover

through this research was its major causes, to develop a better understanding, and discover what different solutions were available.

What I thought was significant was that many people who came through our doors mourn the fact that they had become disconnected from their families. It was not uncommon to see men and women reduced to tears about the destruction that had taken place in the family because of addiction being present in that system. I wanted to discover possible ways that we could interrupt that process and introduce some alternatives, such as normalizing addiction and family systems. Helping the families to develop strategies that involved healthy choices, around family members through understanding addiction, and resources available.

One benefit of doing this research was that we possibly provided one stop shopping, in terms of helping the entire family as we had treatment centres for both men and women. This became a valuable addition to help the rest of the family and to accelerate the re-connection of the family unit, as well as provide some education to everyone involved. The part that excited me was that we had a complete system in place to help people. We believed that this was an opportunity to discover that families were a part of the solution, and additionally, to identify those who were victims of family disconnection.

Potential Causes of the Problem/Factors Contributing to the Opportunity

It was not uncommon for us to work with about a hundred families over the course of a year. One cause of the breakdown in family systems resulted from the lack of awareness and education within the entire family unit, in terms of understanding addiction and the impact on the family. While the resident was learning at an accelerated rate, the rest of the family was minimally exposed to the same education. This widening gap lead to great difficulty in terms of

inclusion and intimacy. Oftentimes the rest of the family did not get a chance to unload their pain, distress, or were unable to talk about how they had been impacted. Intimacy suffered as well because as the resident learned and changed, the family experienced difficulty in getting reconnected at a level of equality.

A second cause was the lack of resources, financial as well as manpower. Residential client costs were covered through a variety of means, while the family was left with very limited opportunities such as accessing the local government counselling office or seeking very expensive private counselling. There was a long wait list for accessing the government counselling offices due to minimal manpower.

A third cause was that families had stated they did not feel as connected with going outside of our organization because of the contrast between the style of our organization and that of the government. The InnerVisions treatment program was directional and structured in the first 30 days of residence in terms of education that ignited a passion and fire within the client to dream and have hope. Families were expressing their desire to receive the same structure and direction as their loved one was receiving—a style hard to achieve by being on the outside of the organization.

The Organization

Potential Research Sponsor

My main research sponsor was the InnerVisions Recovery Society of which I am the Executive Director. My reasoning for collaboration with this group of people was that it was my experience that we were very committed to helping our communities. The Board of Directors,

was supportive of my involvement in this Masters program, and realized that this work was very beneficial to all people involved.

The contact person for the Board of Directors was Mr. Bob Kirby, who worked in concert with me because he understood the value of research. In the event of any differences with respect to the research, we mutually agreed on a third party that was not involved with the organization or the research to mediate any difficulties that arose. InnerVisions Recovery Society was committed to make this thesis possible as well as meaningful, and developed a good understanding of what its responsibilities were in terms of finances, time, and use of the facilities. I had no doubt that the organizations that currently sponsored InnerVisions such as the Rotary Clubs, Lions Clubs, assorted Foundations, and private-sector companies would continue to support any project in which InnerVisions became involved. They were involved in every level and all had different functions.

Information Review

InnerVisions Family Program

The InnerVisions Family Program was founded on the disciplines of the InnerVisions Residential Treatment Program and provided a structured, safe, and enforced service to the community for over twelve years. Clients completed all assignments and consistently attended, in order to receive a certificate of completion.

This program was available to families of any InnerVisions client and those families were able to access this program for one calendar year.

Starter Kit

Each family was given a starter kit containing:

- 1. An Alcoholics Anonymous Big Book with a schedule for completing the reading of the book. Five to ten questions pertaining to their current readings were assigned to family members each week.
- 2. A duo-tang of writing paper, writing guide and a pen for daily reflection were briefly checked each week.
- 3. A written description of the weekly meetings, and what the topics were.

Week One: Understanding Addiction

Participants went through the cycle of addiction, covered the doctor's opinion in the *Big Book*, watched the "InnerVisions Addiction" video, and had open discussion.

Week Two: Understanding the Addict

Participants watched the InnerVisions "Profile of an Addict" video, covered chapters one and two of the *Big Book*, covered the Disease Model, and had open discussion.

Week Three: Understanding the Solution

Participants watched the InnerVisions "Solution" video, covered chapters three and four of the big book. Facilitators shared part of their stories, and had open discussion

Week Four: Communication and Power Imbalances

Participants watched the InnerVisions "Anger" video, covered the conflict resolution four-stage model of communication, and had open discussion.

Week Five: Look at the Family System

Participants developed a "where to from here" plan, watched the InnerVisions "Family" video, covered the Satir Family System Model including exercises and explanations of such

areas as the Iceberg and stances, covered other possible community resources, and had open discussion.

Week Six: Debrief and Celebrate

Participants discussed their "where to from here plan," had discussion about what happened for the learner, and where they were going from here, and what help they needed to reach their goal. Certificates were given out and beverages were available.

Chapter Two – Literature Review

Review of Organizational Documents

The review of organizational documents consisted of:

- 1. Mission and Value statement
- 2. Ethical Conduct
- 3. Annual Report 2002
- 4. Organizational documents
- 5. Commission of Accredited Rehabilitation Facilities (CARF)

We included the operating structure size, the scope, and target population we would serve. The Commission of Accredited Rehabilitation Facilities (CARF) recognized InnerVisions and we would explain how InnerVisions' policies and procedures were one of the main management controls that governed the organization.

Our Mission and Value statements were the guiding light in our organization, because the organization was created to help those suffering from the effects of addiction. Our mission was to help in a holistic manner based upon the foundations of honesty, compassion, trust, spirituality, and a 12-step philosophy.

InnerVisions residential treatment program ensured that ethical principles and practices were well documented for staff and volunteers. This was another cornerstone of the organization, and the ethical obligations were continuously scrutinized to ensure their adherence. InnerVisions ethical policies were approved by an external accredited organization.

The 2002 annual report was a document that was created due to our accreditation process and became an extremely valuable tool in both informing ourselves as an organization and the community. The annual report also contained our projected goals, and was a document that could

systemically heighten the awareness of our organization via our web site (www.innervisionsrecovery.com). The report also contained information in areas such as effectiveness, customer satisfaction, demographics, referral sources, efficiency, quality assurance, and clients' drugs of choice.

The Commission of Accreditation Rehabilitative Facilities (CARF) is a private non-profit organization that accredited programs in several fields, one being behavioural health and medical rehabilitation. This particular field developed the standards that needed to be met by an organization applying for the accreditation, which consisted of the person served, professionals, and purchasers of services. The standards were applied through a peer review process to determine how well the organization adhered to the set standards.

Review of Supporting Literature

Introduction

This chapter of the thesis reviewed the literature regarding the various types of treatment processes that are available today with regards to substance abuse. When considering treatment in today's society, we must ponder all of the different forms that are available. We have to understand that there are a number of forms that are administered by agencies involving a number of different people. On many levels the treatment process has several key participants that are measured in various ways.

This review will discuss a number of the sub-topics, the first one being the modalities of treatment. These modalities come in alternate forms and are administered in different ways. The modalities are altered for the individual who may decide on what type of treatment he/she would like to undergo. The main treatment modalities are self-help groups, private counselling, day or

evening programs, and residential treatment. The individual may want his or her family to be involved in the recovery process, but most treatment facilities are geared towards the individual, while the family is on the outside looking in.

Despite the evidence of the familial impact of addictions, many of the current treatment modalities limit therapy to the addict, concurrent care for family members, or both (Earles, 1994, p. 8). Residential treatment is the traditional way of dealing with substance abuse. There are other forms of dealing with addiction that would be considered alternatives. We ought to look at these forms of treatment and wonder how they are implemented and by whom, and if the addict is geared towards using these types of methods. As suggested by Breslin, Reed and Malone (2003) we can offer the addict more unconventional methods of treatment such as holistic modalities. These holistic modalities will include tai chi, art therapy and cultural awareness. Programs like this would give the addict newfound self-esteem and self-identity.

Aftercare programs, which may include safe housing and relapse prevention, are areas of importance that we will discuss. What the addict does after he or she has received treatment is of great importance to the individual. First we ought to ask ourselves, if there is any form of treatment that is available for the addict after he or she has completed the residential program, and if there is, how can it be measured? For example one common modality is to get connected with a 12-step programs such as Alcoholics Anonymous.

We can look to Seraganian, Brown and Tremblay (2003) for some insight to this question. They asked for participants and broke them into two groups, the consent group and the non-consent group. The people in the consent group were subject to the more in-depth aftercare program, which involved a 10 week 90 minute group session with regards to social reintegration, relapse prevention, and health and psychological adjustments. This proved to be valuable

because the people in the non-consent group were subject to less attention and were more likely to relapse.

The second sub-topic in the review is the need for family involvement. Bowen and Kerr (1988) states that family group therapy conducted by a skilled therapist can be extremely useful for reducing anxiety and relieving symptoms. Addiction is a major cause for family anxiety and has to be dealt with on a family level. As mentioned before, when the addict goes to treatment, the family is left behind and does not have the same access to counselling regarding addiction. We ought to get the family involved on a deeper level in the recovery process so that the members of the family can relate to the addict and try to understand what he or she is going through. We need to decipher what role the family members can play and how effective it will be towards the addict's recovery.

The programs that are available to families are minimal. This is the third sub-topic for the review: What programs are available for families? There seems to be several different ways for the families to be involved. The data indicates that several forms seem to have different effects. We will look at this data to further understand what we can do in order to promote change and reduce anxiety in that family system. In order to measure these programs we must first implement them, then we must gather measurable data that can be used to decide whether or not the program is having any effect.

InnerVisions implemented a Family Program that involves families in the treatment process—independent of the client in residence. InnerVisions conducted this process by having questionnaires filled out by willing participants (client and family members), implementing an educational starter kit for all involved, by having focus groups cover the nature of the problem and where the anxiety is coming from.

Modalities of Treatment

The first topic for the review is the modalities of treatment. The first modality that we will discuss is the residential treatment process. Residential Treatment is available to anyone who wishes to come in, if they feel they have a substance abuse problem. Usually clients are referred by their family doctor or by an addiction specialist.

Weisner, Matzger and Kaskutas (2003) ask the question does treatment "work"? They suggest that a large body of research suggests that treatment does work. They discovered that many people who do enter treatment stay sober or otherwise change their habits and have fewer problems. On the other hand, they have also found that the majority of the population do not feel that treatment centres are a viable way of treating substance abuse considering that a small number of people actually stay sober. If this is the case then we must look at what programs we can have in place to ensure a higher success rate.

One form commonly used is Coerced Treatment. Such treatment occurs when the courts mandate an offender to attend if alcohol and drugs are the person's main problem. There are many benefits for the offender to have drug and alcohol treatment. As set out by Mottern (2002) the benefits are as follows: no physical violence, no drugs, chemicals or contraband, no implicit or explicit sexual behaviour, no destruction of property, and no absconding. These are all issues that individuals would face if they were in an unstructured environment. The residential treatment process for these people would allow the individual freedoms that they would not have if they were unsupervised. Although they are mandated to treatment by outside forces, they are free to leave at any time. If they did decide to leave then they would be subject to the appropriate punishment.

An article written by The Brown University Digest of Addiction Theory and Application (2000) states that coerced treatment can yield equal, or better outcomes than voluntary treatment. The authors conclude that providing alternative consequences appeared to motivate patients/clients to comply with addiction treatment. The coerced patients were found to have "more to lose" in terms of leaving the treatment centre than someone who had entered voluntarily.

Farabee, Predergrast and Anglin (1998) conducted a study on the effectiveness of coerced treatment for drug abusing offenders and discovered that the research emphasis on external pressure to enter treatment, and its relative success, has largely eclipsed initially, the potential role of internal motivation. There is strong support for the role of internal motivation as a predictor of program retention and positive treatment outcomes.

Substance abuse in the work place is a major issue. Employees of companies are often times caught using drugs and alcohol at work. In order to keep their job, they are coerced into treatment. Lawental, McLellan, Grissom, Brill and O'Brien (1996) found that when employees are coerced into treatment through their employer they went into treatment with significant substance abuse and other life area problems, but when their treatment was complete these problems were generally less severe and the employees had fewer problems.

Berg, Anderson and Alveberg (1997) suggest that former addicts as support workers enhance a client's length of stay and outcomes because they model success. My personal experience as a recovering addict, working in addiction for 14 years, reflects that to be true. As mentioned in the introduction, residential treatment is the most common form of treatment for substance abuse.

The methods of treatment a given centre implements will have an outstanding effect on the person's recovery process. In the article *Female and Male Alcoholics in Treatment;*Characteristics at Intake and Recovery Rates done by Smart (1979), he compared the characteristics of males and females at intake and their recovery rates in treatment centres. The treatment centres' that Smart chose covered a variety of therapies and approaches including inpatient and out-patient care, individual and group psychotherapy, protective drugs, tranquillizers and anti-depressants, family therapy, day care and occupational therapy. The methods used in outpatient care are available at most residential treatment centres; however, day care and family therapy are not.

The question that we could to ask is: What do we do with the people that need the two above services? It traditionally has not been cost-effective for a treatment centre to have family therapy and day care. It is not only a financial cost, but it will also cost the staff time that they do not have. These are areas that the literature needs to address in terms of viability for the client as well as the facility. InnerVisions is committed to finding out through samplings and various researches if all of these parameters can be accomplished and if they will be able to benefit all of the parties involved.

A modality of treatment that is vital to a person's recovery is the aftercare portion. Safe housing is a method of treatment that would have the recovery process less intense, but still plays a vital role in the person's sobriety by keeping them in touch and around the program if they choose to do so. As mentioned in the introduction, the work done by Seraganian, Brown and Tremblay (2003) would suggest that patients involved in an aftercare program, which includes safe housing would help the addicts in their recovery. A solid aftercare program would allow the

addicts to get the help that they need and to help them with the reintegration process of living life on life's terms.

Breslin, Reed and Malone (2003) discovered that a holistic approach to the outpatient and aftercare process may provide much insight to the treatment process. This program is designed to provide patients with not only traditional modalities of treatment such as individual or group therapy, but also provide an opportunity for patients to express thoughts and feelings through holistic modalities. These modalities would include, as mentioned in the introduction, tai chi, art therapy, leisure and recreational skills, spiritual growth and development, cultural awareness and appreciation, and vocational services.

In an article written by Bacci (2002) in *The Toronto Sun*, she describes a charitable organization called Caritas. Caritas focuses on a non-medical program that offers a 25-month program for overcoming addiction. The main focus of this holistic point of view is to reinforce the importance of education and active participation in the work force.

Hagemaster (2000) did a study on therapeutic touch in the treatment of drug addictions. Her preliminary findings would indicate that the use of therapeutic touch could be effective in prolonging periods of abstinence for alcohol and other drug abusers in two ways. First, it is possible that the mood elevation effects of the intervention could enhance attaining and maintaining abstinence. Second, the enhanced test scores could only be found in the therapeutic touch group that would indicate indicators for enhanced sobriety through reduction of social stressors in general.

A study conducted by McDonough and Russell (1994) looks at alcoholism in women and from that they developed a holistic, comprehensive model. Their research suggests that it seems like an objective, non-judgemental outreach effort is critical in discouraging the stigma that is

projected with women and alcohol. Women see alcoholism as a "manly" disease to have, therefore when treated for alcoholism they must have a more holistic, spiritual approach. When addicts are in the thrust of their addiction, they take many things for granted. All of the above ideas would give the addict or alcoholic a new found way to live and provide a method to express their feelings without resorting to using drugs. The holistic method is not proven to work and does not guarantee that the person in recovery will not relapse, but it is a modality of treatment that must get some consideration.

Family Involvement

Family involvement plays a major role in addiction. Addiction is a family disease because it affects everyone and everyone affects it. Earles (1994) states that therapy with a family systems approach may be particularly helpful in treating substance abuse because of the reciprocal nature of abuse and familial relationships. The role that the family plays will be a big part of the recovery process.

We can look to Freeman (1976) for some insight into family treatment. Freeman states that there are three stages of family treatment, which can be used as a mechanism for therapy.

The first stage is "redefining the problem": we must re-orientate the family on what exactly the problem is. The family must realize that they are in fact a system and that they must work on the problem collectively. This would allow for the whole family to be involved from a much deeper level, compared to one-on-one counselling. The second stage is the "working through stage." This allows the family members to recognize that as a unit they can better meet their needs at a group and individual level The third stage is the "letting go" stage which has the family members already recognizing the problem and developing a solution and putting that solution into practice.

The three-stage model is a valuable way for the family members to get involved on a profound level. Karno, Beutler and Harwood (2002) developed a study that demonstrated that alcoholism treatment—family or individual—effectiveness can be predicted by the interaction between baseline patient characteristics and the in-session process of psychotherapy assessed early in treatment. Furthermore, these interactions between patient attributes and the therapy process were better predictors of alcohol use than were the interactions between patient attributes and treatment modality. On one level we have Freeman (1976) suggesting that family treatment comes in three stages and is incumbent upon the realization that they are a system, but we have Karno et al. (2002) suggesting that the relationship between the patients and therapist is at the forefront. Once that is in place then the family can get involved in the process.

In accessing the family involvement of treatment, Morgenstern and McCrady (1992) use the behavioural model and the disease model to assess treatment. They suggest that experts seem to favour the integration of the models, because we cannot really tell if addiction has more to do with environment or a biological factor. This would involve the family on both levels. If it is an environmental issue then the family and the surroundings must be gauged. If it is a biological issue then there must be some education to make the family members aware that addiction does run in the family.

The family relationships between different members are what bring a family together.

The husband–wife relationship, the father–son relationship, the daughter–mother relationships comprise the immediate family. The husband and wife relationship is one of importance.

According to Janzen (1978) when the wife always forgives the alcoholic husband, then he has it in his mind that it is all right to keep doing what he is doing, so he always does. This is where interventions need to be introduced, as the husband must know that the alcoholism itself is a

disease, but the reciprocal behaviours that follow must be dealt with in order to have a viable marriage.

Family Programs

To date, there are not many programs that directly involve the families, except for government programs and expensive counselling. We want to develop a way where we can have family intervention that is cost effective. Our objective is to have an educational component that is accessible to the family members of any client in the InnerVisions residence.

Ritson (1979) has proposed an idea that could become quite feasible. We could develop a community-based alcohol team which would help the front line agencies, not fully understanding addictions and families, develop competence and confidence in dealing with alcohol programs which they met daily amongst their clients and patients. This study suggested that it is quite possible to provide consultation and support to social workers, general practitioners, and other front line agencies in this way. This community-based alcohol team could be made up of a various number of people. These people could include family members of recovering alcoholics as well as practicing alcoholics to identify the problem and work on a common solution.

This common solution could come in many different forms. Family therapy seems to be the solution that is referred to most often. If we can get the families involved on an even playing field, so they will be enriched with the same knowledge as the addict/alcoholic, then we will be on our and their way to understanding addiction and its affect on the family. The problems that families face as described by Orford (1992) is how to cope or respond to the addicted family member. Community agents and legislators face the same dilemma. These revolve around questions of control, confrontation, collusion and support. These things are universal features of social systems, large or small, particularly under conditions of conflict. This development of

thinking might open up badly needed new developments in the prevention of substance abuse problems. If the families can learn to cope, then we might be on the road to discovering new methods for family programs.

Conclusion

This thesis is a review of the literature that is available to articulate the points of view on the modalities of treatment, family involvement of treatment, family programs and the evaluation of family programs. The modalities of treatment come in various ways; this review focused on three modalities.

The coerced theory is one that is used quite frequently in today's society. As Mottern (2002) points out, coerced treatment is what the courts use to mandate an offender to treatment. This method would allow them a safe environment to have for their recovery. The Brown University Digest of Addiction Theory and Application (2000) stated that coerced treatment could yield better outcomes than voluntary treatment. Farabee, Predergrast and Anglin (1998) would have us believe that the role of internal motivation for coerced patients is strong enough to otherwise produce good results. Lawental et al. (1996) found that employees that were coerced into treatment had major life problems going into treatment, but found them to be less severe when they got out.

The second modality of treatment is the aftercare portion of the recovery. Although there is not much literature on this modality, we can look to Seraganian et al. (2003) who dictates that the aftercare portion is a big part of the recovery and patients that are involved have a greater chance for sobriety than those who do not.

The third modality of treatment discussed in the review is the holistic approach. Breslin et al. (2003) tell us that the holistic approach to the outpatient would provide much insight to the

recovery process. This modality would encourage patients to express themselves in a nonconventional way.

In reviewing the research we find that the holistic modality is becoming more available and more common. Bacci (2002) describes a charity in Toronto that offers a non-medical program, which consists of a 25-months for overcoming addiction. This charity is helping people reintegrate back into society. Holistic modalities branch out into other forms.

Hagemaster (2000) found that therapeutic touch could be effective for prolonging long periods of abstinence. The review on the literature pertaining to family involvement has a few different insights. Earles (1994) suggests that therapy with a family system component would be helpful in treating substance abuse. Having said that, Freeman (1976) gives the model of the three stages of family treatment; the three-stage model can be useful, for it provides a redefining the problem stage, a working through stage, and a letting go stage. This would be beneficial to the family as a whole. Karno et al. (2002) says that the relationship between the patient and the therapist would give a better indication of the therapy that is required, and the characteristics of both would be crucial to the family involvement. Family programs and family involvement are congruent subjects. Ritson (1979) suggested that we could have community-based alcohol teams that we could use to help the practitioners and the social workers with alcoholism. These teams could be made up of family members of recovering alcoholics and practicing alcoholics that would give the community much needed awareness. Awareness is what's needed; Orford (1992) says that the problems families face is how to cope or respond to the addict/alcoholic. Family programs can help heighten abilities to cope and respond to the addict or alcoholic whether it is through family therapy, group therapy, or even individually amongst them.

Potential Solutions to the Problem

Evaluation of Family Programs

In evaluating these programs, InnerVisions is developing a way to produce measurable data. Upon entry to the treatment centre, the client will be assessed through a questionnaire which will ask a number of questions with regards to client's well being. The client will also be given an assessment half way through the stay and will be given a final assessment upon leaving the treatment centre. All of these ways will produce information that is measurable as to the well being of the client and get them involved in an after-care program.

InnerVisions has a residential treatment program for men and women. InnerVisions over the years has developed a stringent recovery program that tackles addiction and takes it on with a "no bullshit" attitude. This allows the addicted individual to be able to work on himself or herself with the guidance of skilled recovered addicts.

Chapter Three-Conduct of Research study

Research Methods

In August of 2003, InnerVisions conducted research that had the families of residents in our treatment centres involved in a family program. InnerVisions developed a program of measurable activity that allowed us to track the progress of the addict/alcoholic as well as the family members.

Upon entry to the residential treatment program, the client was asked to participate in the study. We then had them fill out both a pre- and post-questionnaire (see Appendix 1). We also asked the family to participate, and if consent was given, they filled out a pre- and post-questionnaire as well (see Appendix 1). This allowed us to have measurable data so that we could begin to monitor the progress of the client and family.

The researcher conducted two learning circles with each client group, including some advisory personnel. These groups were implemented following the administration of the surveys. The advisory group also had two focus groups, following the learning circles to de-brief and discuss the learnings. This was another opportunity to determine the various themes that manifested because of the learning circles.

The learning circles were recorded by using flipchart paper, and as points are raised and discussed; they were written for the entire group to view and speak to. The researcher continually checked with the group throughout this process to ensure that these points were accurate and valid. In closing the group the researcher referred to the points on the flipchart and got consensus with respect to what was on the paper. As suggested by Smart (1979) we sought to measure the following:

- 1. Social stability
- 2. Physical health
- 3. Resources the addict/alcoholic has to help him in terms of people to help him
- 4. Resources the addict/alcoholic has in terms of interests not connected with drinking
- 5. Client satisfaction with various life conditions
- 6. Attitudes towards abstinence
- 7. Motivation for treatment

All of the above ideas gave us a good understanding of where the client was when they come into treatment, and gave us areas to monitor while in their stay. These items will also gave their family a barometer of what to work on with the family in terms of aftercare. The aftercare is important; it will play a major role in the sobriety of the client. The above measurable attributes were dealt with on a family level, and helped the family get a better understanding of where the client was and what needed to be worked on.

Project Milestones/Schedule

The project was carried out with the following schedule:

Agreement Letter Submission	August 2003
Ethical Review Submission	August 2003
Correspondence with Participants	September 2003
Learning Circle	October 2003, January 2004
Advisory Focus Group	October 2003, January 2004

Data Collection	September pre-post 2003
	December post 2003
Data Analysis	February 2004
Completion of First Project Draft	March 2004
Submission of Final Project to RRU	April 2004

Project Participants

The key participants involved in implementing the study were the employees of InnerVisions, the clients and their families. Below is a list of actual individuals who were involved in scoping out the problem, producing solutions to the problem, and implementing the study recommendations.

Scoping Out the Problem

- 1. Executive Committee of InnerVisions
- 2. Employees of InnerVisions
- 3. EAP Workers

Producing Solutions

Executive Committee of InnerVisions consisting of the following:

- 1. Jerry Topley, senior staff
- 2. Cory Wint, senior staff
- 3. Brad Clancy, senior staff

- 4. Kim Weselowski, senior staff
- 5. Teresa McLellan, senior staff
- 6. Employees of InnerVisions
- 7. Clients and Families

Implementing the Study Recommendations:

- 1. William Weselowski and Associates Ltd
- 2. Executive Committee of InnerVisions
- 3. Employees of InnerVisions

Study Participants

In the initial plan to do the study, we had hoped to involve family members associated to about 25 clients. However, we found it extremely difficult to contact and schedule this number for an initial program. In the final analysis we had 18 family members start the program, and of these just 13 stayed through to the end. Accordingly, the research itself is based on a sample of 13 family members - each of whom completed a pre- and post program questionnaire.

The background characteristics of these family members, as per their responses to the pre-program questionnaires are as follows:

- 46% are parents of clients
- 38% are spouses or girl friends of clients
- 77% are female
- Their average age is 41 years old
- On average these are people whose families have been affected by addiction for 23 years.

Project Budget

The Sponsoring Organization covered all costs connected to this project. The photocopying and questionnaires were done in-house. Administering the questionnaires was done by the researcher and with the advisory board. There were some costs for stamps, pencils, pens, envelopes, and paper. It was originally estimated that this project would not exceed \$1,500.00, and it turned out the final outcome was just below that.

Chapter Four-Research Study Results

Study Findings

As discussed, the questionnaire used in this study was administered to family members of clients in our residential treatment centres. Family members completed a questionnaire at the beginning and also at the end of the program. This chapter reports on the results of the questionnaire specifically pertaining to the comparison between the questionnaires completed at the beginning of the program and those completed at the end of the program. Tables in this chapter present the participant responses to the pre- and post-questionnaires. Each table addresses the response data to a specific question as it sequentially appeared in the questionnaire.

Section One

The results relating to section one were presented first, followed by the results associated with the remaining five sections of the questionnaire. Following this presentation of quantitative evidence from the individual sections, a qualitative analysis on comments offered by respondents to each section was provided. The chapter concluded with a section drawing attention to common themes that indicated the apparent limitations of the survey.

As can be seen by Table 1, the first thing we can say is that most families saw themselves as being adequately connected to the family unit at the beginning of the program. However, they did not see themselves any more connected at the end of the program (see Table 1). Similarly, the extent to which respondents saw addiction affecting their family's finances did not change further over the course of the program (see Table 2). The degree to which family members felt respected within their family was unaffected over the course of their participation in the program (see Tables 3, 4, and 5). Finally, the extent to which families felt there was a drinking problem in

their family, and the extent to which they saw that problem as serious, did not change over the course of their participation in the program (see Tables 6 and 7).

The first section also provided participants with an opportunity to comment on what the participants felt was the most serious contributing factor to their family's difficulties. People entering the program responded by writing that the leading problems were the actual addiction or using of drugs by a family member, as well as mistrust, communication problems, and heredity of addiction within the family itself. When the surveys were redistributed towards the end of the program the results changed somewhat, with participants only seeing problems with communication as an issue.

Table 1.

How close would your rate your family in terms of being connected?*

Questionnaire Group	Not connected	Somewhat connected	Adequately connected	Very connected	Extremely Connected	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	17%	25%	42%	8%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	17%	50%	8%	17%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 2.

To what degree has addiction negatively affected your family's finances? *

Questionnaire Group	Somewhat affected	Adequately Affected	Very affected	Extremely affected	Total
% Pre-test responses	17%	25%	33%	25%	100%
% Post-test responses	9%	18%	54%	18%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 3.

To what degree do you feel respected in your family? *

Questionnaire Group	Not respected		Adequately respected	Very respected	Extremely Respected	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	0%	67%	17%	8%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	17%	50%	8%	17%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 4.

Generally, to what degree do you respect other family members? *

Questionnaire Group	Some respect	Average respect	Good respect	Excellent respect	Total
% Pre-test responses	.0%	33%	58%	8%	100%
% Post-test responses	17%	17%	50%	17%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 5.

How often do family members show disrespect to each other? *

Questionnaire Group	Daily	Weekly	Monthly	Never	Total
% Pre-test responses	10%	40%	30%	20%	100%
% Post-test responses	20%	30%	40%	10%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 6.

Do you think there is a problem with drinking and/or using in your family? *

Questionnaire Group	No problem	Alcohol	Both	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	33%	58%	100%
% Post-test responses	25%	0%	75%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 7. How serious do you consider this problem to be, not including the person in treatment? *

Questionnaire Group	Very serious problem	Somewhat of a problem	Minor problem	Manageable	Not a problem	Total
% Pre-test responses	27%	18%	18%	18%	18%	100%
% Post-test responses	17%	25%	8%	25%	25%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Section Two

The second section of the questionnaire dealt with what the participants felt were the most important goals that they and their families wished to achieve over the next calendar year. Many people responded to this question with feelings in the beginning that they would like to see stability and interaction with the family to be important goals. As well, they wanted to regain trust, learn to communicate better, and help the family to stay clean and sober. These goals did not change as the program progressed; participants still felt that they wanted their families to be close, healthy, and happy with each other.

Looking at the Table 8, "how has addiction affected the family's ability to participate in family activities?" the analysis indicated no significant difference, from the beginning or the end of the program. Table 9 also shows no significant difference as far as addiction affecting the family's medical health, and Table 10 showed no difference between pre-and post affects on the family's physical activities. Family members reported at the beginning relatively healthy mental wellness within the family (see Table 11). As well, Table 12 reported no significant difference in terms of how addiction had affected the family's emotional wellness. The family members reported that addiction had not affected trust in the family or themselves at the start of the program, and reported no significant difference after the program (see Tables 13 and 14). There was also no significant difference in regards to addiction affecting the family's ability to keep promises or commitments to their families, (see Table 15) as well as to themselves (see Table 16).

Table 8.

How has addiction affected your ability to participate in family activities? *

Questionnaire Group	Minimal participation	Some participation	Normal participation	Good participation	Excellent participation	Total
% Pre-test responses	50%	25%	25%	0%	0%	100%
% Post-test responses	25%	25%	25%	17%	8%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 9.

How has addiction affected your family's medical health? *

Questionnaire Group	Not healthy	Somewhat healthy	Average health	Very healthy	Extremely healthy	Total
% Pre-test responses	17%	0%	50%	17%	17%	100%
% Post-test responses	25%	8%	33%	33%	0%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 10.

To what degree has addition affected your family's physical activities? *

Questionnaire Group	Not affected	Somewhat affected	Normal wellness	Very affected	Extremely affected	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	0%	58%	17%	17%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	25%	25%	25%	17%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 11.

To what degree has addiction affected your family's mental wellness? *

Questionnaire Group	Not affected	Somewhat affected	Normal Wellness	Very affected	Extremely affected	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	0%	17%	17%	58%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	8%	17%	17%	50%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 12.

To what degree has addiction affected your family's emotional wellness? *

Questionnaire Group	Not affected	Somewhat affected	Normal Wellness	Very affected	Extremely affected	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	0%	17%	17%	58%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	8%	17%	17%	50%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 13.

To what degree has addiction affected trust in your family? *

Questionnaire Group	No trust	Some trust	Average trust	Good trust	Total
% Pre-test responses	42%	58%	0%	0%	100%
% Post-test responses	33%	42%	17%	8%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 14.

To what degree has addiction affected trust in your self? *

Questionnaire Group	No trust	Some trust	Average trust	Good trust	Excellent trust	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	42%	33%	8%	8%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	25%	42%	17%	8%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 15.

To what degree has addiction affected your ability to keep your promises and commitments to your family? *

Questionnaire Group	Sometimes keep them	Normally keep them	Keep them frequently	Always keep them	Total
% Pre-test responses	25%	17%	25%	33%	100%
% Post-test responses	42%	17%	17%	25%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 16.

To what degree has addiction affected your ability to keep your promises and commitments to yourself? *

Questionnaire Group	Sometimes keep them	Normally keep them	Keep them frequently	Always keep them	Total
% Pre-test responses	25%	17%	42%	17%	100%
% Post-test responses	25%	50%	17%	8%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Section Three

The third section of the survey queried people about what they felt were the two most important areas that would help their family in the recovery process. The two overwhelmingly given answers were communication skills and conflict resolution skills, with the ability to understand a close third. Many participants did not change their minds after programming, but fewer answered the question possibly meaning they had already obtained these new skills.

As you can see by Tables 17 any 18, most families rated their communication and problem solving skills as average to good with no significant difference after the intervention. How the families rated their ability to express their feelings in an open and honest way showed in Table 19 that the results were not significant. The evidence in Table 20 revealed no significant difference in how the families rated their listening skills in as far as feeling misunderstood by

other family members Table 21 shows no significant difference before or after the intervention. The data in Table 22, "how often the individual shut down mentally when faced with family conflict" was not affected by the intervention.

The degree to which family members were able to receive positive and negative feedback about themselves (Table 23 and 24) showed no significant difference, after the program was completed.

Finally this section rated the level and quality of communication in the families (Table 25), and relatively good communication was reported both before and after the program. How often the family argued, and to what level they usually got to (Tables 26 and 27) report no significant difference, both before and after the intervention.

Table 17.

How would you rate your communication skills? *

Questionnaire Group	Very poor	Poor	Average	Good	Very good	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	17%	42%	33%	0%	100%
% Post-test responses	0%	17%	58%	17%	8%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 18.

How would you rate your conflict resolution/problem solving skills? *

Questionnaire Group	Very poor	Poor	Average	Good	Very good	Total
% Pre-test responses	17%	8%	42%	33%	0%	100%
% Post-test responses	0%	33%	50%	8%	8%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 19.

How would you rate your ability to express your feelings in an honest and open way? *

Questionnaire Group	Poor	Average	Good	Very good	Total
% Pre-test responses	33%	25%	25%	17%	100%
% Post-test responses	17%	42%	33%	8%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 20.

How would you rate your listening skills? *

Questionnaire Group	Poor	Average	Good	Very good	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	8%	67%	17%	100%
% Post-test responses	0%	33%	58%	8%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 21.

How often do you feel misunderstood by family members? *

Questionnaire Group	Often misunderstood	Sometimes misunderstood	Not a	Rarely misunderstood	Total
% Pre-test responses	25%	42%	8%	25%	100%
% Post-test responses	25%	42%	17%	17%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 22.

How often do you shut down mentally when faced with a family conflict? *

				Rarely	
Questionnaire Group	Often shut down	Sometimes shutdown	Not a difficulty	shut down	Total
Pre-test responses	33%	50%	8%	8%	100%
% Post-test responses	25%	50%	0%	25%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 23.

To what degree are you able to hear positive feedback about yourself? *

Questionnaire Group	Very unable to hear feedback	Somewhat able to hear feedback	Able to hear feedback	Somewhat open to hearing feedback	Very open to hearing feedback	Total
% Pre-test responses	0%	25%	42%	33%	0%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	25%	25%	17%	25%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 24.

To what degree are you able to hear negative feedback about yourself? *

			Somewhat		
Questionnaire Group	Somewhat able to hear feedback	Able to hear feedback	open to hearing feedback	Very open to hearing feedback	Total
% Pre-test responses	50%	33%	17%	0%	100%
% Post-test responses	33%	33%	25%	8%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 25. How would you rate the level and quality of communication in your family? *

Questionnaire Group	Very poor	Poor	Average	Good	Very good	Total
% Pre-test responses	0%	42%	42%	17%	0%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	33%	25%	25%	8%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 26.

How often do you argue in your family? *

Questionnaire Group	Daily	Weekly	Monthly	Almost never	Total
% Pre-test responses	17%	17%	42%	25%	100%
% Post-test responses	17%	25%	17%	42%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 27.

To what level do these arguments usually get to? *

Questionnaire Group	Healthy discussions	Loud conversation	Heated conversation	Yelling, screaming	Total
Pre-test responses	8%	50%	17%	25%	100%
% Post-test responses	18%	46%	18%	18%	100%

• Results not significant

Section Four

The fourth section of the questionnaire also dealt with picking the two most important areas that would help the family in the recovery process. In this section, participants generally felt that learning to be honest and educating friends and family about the disease of addiction were the two most important areas to be considered. Additionally cohesion of the family unit, as

well as interaction among members rated quite high. For those who had completed the program, honesty and cohesion were the only two responses that stood ahead of the rest.

Looking at whether the family members had any previous alcohol and drug education or awareness (Table 28) demonstrated no significant results. As well, family members reported no significant difference with respect to having been educated with the disease model of addiction (see Table 29). Family members reported that they thought a family education on addiction was important. However, Table 30, show no significant difference after completion of the program. There was also no significant difference about the families' beliefs about the importance of doing things together like eating and spending quality time to help the recovery process (see Table 31).

In the area of twelve step meetings and reading recovery information together (Tables 32 and 33) the families reported no significant difference yet emphasized the importance of participating in those activities together. How often the family spent one on one time together also showed no significant difference (see Table 34).

Table 28.

Have you had any previous alcohol and drug education/awareness? *

Questionnaire Group	No education	Some education	Average education	Good education	Excellent education	Total
% Pre-test responses	17%	8%	17%	33%	25%	100%
% Post-test responses	17%	42%	0%	33%	8%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 29.

Have you been educated with the disease model of addiction? *

Questionnaire Group	Yes	No	Somewhat	Almost never	Total
% Pre-test responses	42%	25%	33%	0%	100%
% Post-test responses	55%	9%	27%	9%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 30.

How important do you think a family education on addiction is to the family recovery process? *

Questionnaire Group	Important	Very important	Extremely important	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	25%	67%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	17%	75%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 31.

How important do you believe things like eating together and quality time are to the recovery process? *

	Somewhat		Very	Extremely	
Questionnaire Group	important	Important	important	Important	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	8%	25%	58%	100%
% Post-test responses	0%	8%	25%	67%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 32.

How often do you attend 12 Step Meetings together? *

Questionnaire Group	Daily	Monthly	Never	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	0%	92%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	8%	83%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 33.

How often do you read recovery information together? *

Questionnaire Group	Daily	Weekly	Monthly	Never	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	8%	17%	67%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	25%	17%	50%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 34.

How often do you spend individual one on one time together? *

Questionnaire Group	Daily	Weekly	Monthly	Never	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	33%	33%	25%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	58%	8%	25%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Section Five

The fifth section of the questionnaire asked the participant to list what would be the most beneficial service in their community that could provide assistance to families dealing with addiction. Before participating in the program many people felt that N.A., A.A., private counselling, family programs and treatment were the most important. After participating in the

program there was a slight shift as more people felt they wanted more affordable counselling, treatment and family programs in their communities. As well both before and after participation, participants felt that more education was needed on the subject of addiction and prevention.

Tables 35 and 36, reported the importance of the belief in a higher power both individually and in the family unit. However, the tables also revealed no significant difference in pre-and post-test questionnaires. The families rated honesty to the family recovery process extremely high (see Tables 37 and 38), and reported no significant difference after the program was completed. Looking at how often family members ignore the facts to protect their family (Table 39) reported no significant difference.

As can be seen by looking at Tables 40 - 45, there was no significant differences reported in the areas of awareness of community resources, understanding the resources available in our community, the importance of accessing these community resources to help the family process, or the awareness of family support groups in our community. There was also no significant difference in the accessing of resources in a timely manner or the importance of supporting the family in assessing these community resources in the community, before and after the intervention.

Table 35.

Do you believe in a higher power of some sort? *

Questionnaire Group	Somewhat	Yes	Absolute faith	Total
% Pre-test responses	17%	58%	25%	100%
% Post-test responses	17%	58%	25%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 36.

Do you believe in spirituality is important to the family recovery process? *

Questionnaire Group	Not important	Somewhat important	Important	Very important	Extremely important	Total
% Pre-test responses	17%	17%	0%	42%	25%	100%
% Post-test responses	0%	0%	17%	33%	50%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 37.

How vital is honesty to the family recovery process? *

Questionnaire Group	Very vital	Extremely vital	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	92%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	92%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 38.

How important is self-honesty to the family recovery process? *

Questionnaire Group	Somewhat important	Very important	Extremely important	Total
% Pre-test responses	0%	8%	92%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	17%	75%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 39.

How often do you ignore the facts to protect your family? *

Questionnaire Group	Often ignore	Sometimes ignore	Rarely	Never ignore	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	42%	42%	8%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	50%	25%	17%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 40.

How do you rate your awareness of community resources in your local area? *

Questionnaire Group	Not aware	Some awareness	Average awareness	Good awareness	Excellent awareness	Total
% Pre-test responses	17%	25%	17%	42%	0%	100%
% Post-test responses	0%	25%	25%	42%	8%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 41.

In helping the family recovery process, how important is an understanding of resources available in your community? *

Questionnaire Group	Important	Very important	Extremely important	Total
% Pre-test responses	33%	50%	17%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	42%	50%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 42.

How important is accessing these community resources helpful to the family recovery process? *

Questionnaire Group	Somewhat important	Important	Very important	Extremely important	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	17%	58%	17%	100%
% Post-test responses	0%	8%	50%	42%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 43.

Are you aware of family support groups in your community? *

Questionnaire Group	Yes	Somewhat	Total
% Pre-test responses	67%	33%	100%
% Post-test responses	67%	33%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 44.

How important is timely access to the resources in your community? *

	Somewhat		Very	Extremely	
Questionnaire Group	important	Important	important	important	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	33%	25%	33%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	8%	33%	50%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 45.

How important is supporting your family in accessing these community resources? *

Questionnaire Group	Somewhat important	Important	Very important	Extremely important	Total
% Pre-test responses	8%	25%	33%	33%	100%
% Post-test responses	8%	8%	33%	50%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Section Six

The last section of the survey was a summary that allowed for participants to add any additional suggestions that they thought were not covered in the survey. Prior to their participation in the program, participants felt more education that included more family members was needed. As well, they were questioning the availability of other programs and other information. Upon completion they generally just wanted to say how wonderful the program was and to inquire as to what sort of after or family programming was being offered as a continuation of this program.

Tables 46 and 47 showed no significant difference in the family's awareness of private family counselling services in the local vicinity, as well as having had previous counselling.

Table 46.

Are you aware of any private family counselling services in your area? *

Questionnaire Group	Yes	No	Somewhat	Total
% Pre-test responses	58%	8%	33%	100%
% Post-test responses	75%	8%	17%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Table 47.

Have you had previous counselling? *

Questionnaire Group	Yes	No	Total
% Pre-test responses	50%	50%	100%
% Post-test responses	67%	33%	100%

^{*} Results not significant

Study Conclusions

Part One of the questionnaire asked participants to answer questions that best described their current family situation in terms of finances, respect, connection with each other, drinking and using patterns (both individually and for the family overall). The data revealed no significant difference pre and post intervention.

Part Two of the questionnaire asked participants to rate how addiction had affected their family. Areas covered by this part of the questionnaire included social leisure activities, health and wellness, physical, mental, and emotional health, as well as various questions in regards to trust, both personally and in association with the family. The data revealed no significant difference pre-and post intervention.

Part Three of the questionnaire asked participants to rate the state of communication within the family. Participants answered questions such as the level of their personal communication and problem-solving skills, their ability to express feelings, how often they felt misunderstood by other family members, their understanding of their negative coping skills, and their ability to receive feedback (positive and negative). The participants were also asked to rate the level and quality of communication within the family, as well as how often they argued, and to what extent the arguments escalated. The data revealed no significant difference pre-and post intervention.

In Part Four of the questionnaire, we asked participants to tell us about some of the things they felt were important to their family's recovery process, including whether they had had any previous alcohol and drug education or awareness, their understanding of the disease model of addiction, the importance of the family having education about addiction, and several questions designed to rate family cohesion. This section of the questionnaire also asked the participants to rate the concept of spirituality, and the concept of honesty, both within themselves and the family. The data reported no significant difference pre-and post intervention.

In Part Five of the questionnaire, we asked participants about their awareness of local community resources that supported families and addiction, including questions about: the awareness of community resources, the importance of understanding the availability of resources

in the community, accessing these community resources, and an awareness of family support groups in the community. We also asked how important timely access to the resources in the community impacted participants, how important supporting the family was, as well as the awareness of private family counselling in the area. The data reported no significant difference pre-and post intervention.

Part Six of the questionnaire asked some general background questions such as had the participant had any previous counselling, how many years had addiction affected the family, as well as the age, gender, employment status, family size, and the relationship to the person in treatment.

The survey also provided an opportunity for qualitative data collection, by asking the participants to address some issues such as describing the most serious contributing factors to the families difficulties, what they think are the most important goals that they and their family would to want accomplish over the next year, what they consider to be the two most important areas that would help their family in the recovery process, and what they consider to be the two most important areas that would help their family in the recovery process. They were also asked in their opinion, what they thought would be the most beneficial services their community could provide to assist families and to add any suggestions that could help InnerVisions be as helpful as possible to them and their family.

In conclusion, the quantitative data presented in this chapter clearly demonstrates that there was no significant difference in the participant's response to the pre and post-test questionnaires. However, the qualitative data brings forth a different portrait of what the intervention did for the participants. The qualitative data revealed that the participants had an enriching experience; they received specific direction in terms of how to cope with family

members from two levels: the family overall, and the family member in active addiction. Additionally, the qualitative data revealed that the intervention "normalized" the disease of addiction by seeing and hearing other families share their stories. As a result friendships and cohesion were developed amongst the participants. Furthermore, the qualitative data demonstrated that participants began to develop strategies of how to cope with a family member in the throes of addiction. Based on this data I am led to believe that extreme caution should be exercised when interpreting these results, due to the extremely small sample size, and the qualitative feedback, which disputed the quantitative data received from the family program participants.

Study Recommendations

Based on the quantitative data, the conclusion drawn is that the intervention had no impact on the participants; however, the fact that the sample size was so small, only 13 family members completed the pre and post questionnaires, brings into question the validity of this data. The qualitative information, which describes an enriching experience for participants, reflects a conflict with the quantitative data. Because of the significant differences between the quantitative and qualitative data collected, more research needs to be done on this Family Program and I believe that this study should be replicated.

Chapter Five-Research Implications

Organization Implementation

Due to the fact that the research was inconclusive, we have not implemented any organizational changes other than to continue to offer this program for a period of one year. In addition to the continuation of the program, we are adhering to the recommended revisions contained further on in this document under the section titled Research Project Lessons Learned and the data reveals significant differences.

Future Research

If one looks back to through the literature review in Chapter Two, one can conclude quite quickly that the implications of the findings of this research study, in relation to the body of knowledge being studied, is insignificant. Again, other than the learning contained in the section Research Project Lessons Learned, the results of this study do not affect the body of knowledge on family programs being studied today.

Research Project Lessons Learned

In this section I will discuss the research project lessons learned, specifically what worked, what didn't, and what I would do different should I replicate this project. I will also discuss some themes that became apparent and possible solutions to address those themes.

The questionnaire proved to be a very challenging in terms of what questions we asked the participants, and what the intention and syllabus of the program design. The questions in the questionnaire were broad in nature, dealing with topics such as finances, respect, trust, health and wellness, as well as communication skills, while the intervention focused more on addiction, solutions, available resources, and how to access those resources. Because of the discrepancy between the questionnaire and the intervention, data evaluated pre and post showed no

significant difference, however, tables 8,13, 22, 23, 29, 36, 41, and 42 did show some change. The results demonstrated that the participants were extremely constricted in answering questions effectively. For example, "do you think honesty is an ingredient necessary for recovery?" was asked in the questionnaire, yet we never did any in-depth work on honesty in the actual family program. Consequently, participants rated honesty highly both before and after program participation. What this means is that pre-and post intervention scores showed no statistical significant difference; however, if one does not take into account the problematic questionnaire one would assume the intervention, from a quantitative standpoint, was ineffective. Lessons learned from the questionnaire were that more focus was required in regards to the specific syllabus and intention we demonstrated in the implementation of the family program. Simply put, some of the questions asked had no relevance with respect to the syllabus of the program.

Additionally, we found the participants had a difficult time understanding the questionnaires. This is largely due to the fact that we tried to create a questionnaire that was tailored for both the clients in the residential treatment program as well as the family members. This produced some difficulties, for example, the question "to what degree has addiction affected your ability to keep your promises and commitments to your family" was intended for the addicts for self-evaluation. Yet, the non-addicted family members were quite confused with this question. It became apparent that we needed to ask questions more specific to non-addicted family members, in the context of their communications with the person in active addiction. Due to this type of confusion, time constraints played a part for the participants; a conflict was created over the time given to complete the questionnaire. These difficulties resulted in not enough time being spent in completing the questionnaires, which we believe resulted in the production of skewed data.

Having closely scrutinized the quantitative data of the survey, I have come to believe that some of the questions that were asked in the survey were not worded as well as they might have been and were not appropriate for the survey.

The actual implementation of the family program by all accounts was extremely successful for the participants in terms of family cohesion within their own families and other family members, by having access to an arena where the families of addicted people could get a voice and ask questions in a safe environment. Families felt a sense of connection with other families because they all had basically the same issues to deal with, which created a therapeutic environment. Every person who completed the program stated emphatically that the program was an enriching experience, and beneficial to their families.

Two of the strategies that worked well for this program were the providing of day care and offering to pick people up at certain locations. The issue of day care became evident because when we started to phone participants, we realized that not being able to provide day care would impede some families from attending. Offering day care was instrumental in having a single Mom being able to attend. This woman had two small children and was grateful for the assistance so she could attend. Day care was provided on site where the family program was located.

Again, from phoning the participants we discovered at the outset that some families might have difficulty with transportation, and after some staff discussions we decided to provide rides from certain locations as needed. It turned out that we never needed to provide any rides; however, it was discussed every week, and the families worked with each other to arrange rides as needed.

The participants being able to access a series of the addiction videos that we had developed (taking them into their homes to review with other family members) was a key outcome that was remarkably successful. These videos, a community project created by TriCity Education and the Rogers Video chain, are given free of charge to anyone who requests them. The videos speak to addiction, anger, solutions and specifically families and addiction. All participants reported that these videos were exceptional in helping other family members understand the issue of addiction. Increasing the awareness of the availability of these videos was definitely a positive aspect of the family program.

The information delivered from the syllabus was valuable and beneficial for the participants. Participants reported having developed a solid grasp of understanding addiction through interaction with the group members, discussion among themselves, interaction with the facilitator, and through educational information handed out to all the participants. Participants also reported an increased comprehension of the disease model of addiction, the 12 steps, and the effects of alcohol and drugs. There was a great emphasis on homework assignments being completed on a weekly basis that strengthened and anchored the learnings that took place in the Program. All participants reported that the information provided through the handouts and discussions was valuable.

The participants stated that it was important for them to come to understand that they were not alone and unique, and hearing the stories of other families helped them to come to terms and better understand their own plight. Another common theme the participants expressed throughout the program was how they would be able to continue to create this sort of an environment once the course was finished. There was much discussion between the various family members about creating a drop-in evening where the family members could get together

and invite friends who might have similar problems in their families. The participants learned that not only were they not alone and unique, but that this was a very widespread problem with very few resources or solutions. I found the qualitative information to be very enriching and clear.

Having thought this through, I would be interested in doing this program again, and here's what I would do differently. I would re-tool the survey, making it clearer to understand. I'm convinced I created some confusion by trying to design the survey for both in-house clients and their families. Family members had assumed that the questions were directed at the family overall, but the intention was with the specific loved ones involved in our treatment programs. I believe that would have had a large impact on the results.

The sample size, being significantly small also had a large impact on the results. I would replicate the program with a minimum of 30-35 participants.

As well, another difficulty that emerged from this research is that people stated that they needed help with communication, and conflict resolution, and that there needed to be more family involvement in the recovery process. These were observations from family members who were not addicts themselves, which sets a tone for future cohesion within these families. The intervention did not contain a component on communication and conflict resolution skills, and thus, the interaction between the family and the member in treatment did not noticeably improve. Providing the participants with better communication skills would create possibilities of real transformation in the family unit. Communication was based around the family members interacting casually amongst themselves in terms of helping an addicted family member. Additionally, communication strategies were designed to help family members begin to interact with an addicted family member, who of course can be very problematic, especially when the

addicted family member is in the throes of their active addiction. More time could have been devoted to communication and conflict resolution.

The program needed to be replicated with a better explanation of what the survey was trying to accomplish (the survey was geared to the quality of life in respect to the client in our treatment centres, <u>not</u> the family overall). Additionally, more time needed to be given to participants to fill out the questionnaires, for the richness and texture of the program were found during the analysis of the qualitative data, not the quantitative.

The sample size, being significantly small (18 started, 13 completed) had a large impact on the results, and the lesson learned is that we needed to start with the larger group size to take into consideration people dropping out and not completing the program. This program was intended for family members of clients who were involved in our residential treatment centres, for example, one client in the residential treatment centre referred three different family members to the family program, and when the residential client was asked to leave the treatment centre for inappropriate behaviours, the three family members in the family program dropped out, dramatically impacting our completion rate. This created some barriers to filling the seats as we had a limited target based population. If I would replicate this program, I would make it available to the general public, heightening the public awareness of the program, through the extensive network that the InnerVisions Recovery Society has developed. The ideal number of participants would be in the range of 30 to 35 assorted family members.

Another difficulty we encountered occurred when we started phoning the different families that residential clients had referred to the family program. There was reluctance in many cases to obtain a commitment to participate in a six-week program. While everyone stated that they needed to have an understanding of what was going on with their loved one in terms of

addiction, when offered an opportunity to participate in this program, a large number of families declined citing reasons such as taking holidays, previous commitments, that it was too long, and some stated while it was important, they were not willing to commit that much time to addressing this issue in their family. The lesson learned from this theme; is that family systems are indeed complex, and fortified. The people who attended the program were highly motivated and extremely curious, while a similar number of people contacted, equally agreed that a problem existed, demonstrated reluctance or low motivation to attempt to improve their family situation.

Another challenge that emerged from the data was the need to focus more on family communication and connection. The six-session intervention was designed and developed for family members of addicted people, and as a result none of the family members in the residential treatment centres were in attendance. What became apparent was that while all people were being educated to a degree, the absence of family connection was very evident. It became noticeable towards the end of the six sessions that all parties would need some sort of facilitation to begin the reconnection process.

While all participants agreed that the information was very valuable, there was much discussion around how to actually begin implementing a process of reconnection with the family member suffering from the addiction. If I were to replicate this program, I would create a minimum of two counselling sessions after completion of the family program. Here, family members and the client in treatment could be provided with guidance, support and structure so that the family could be reunited, and strategies for the future developed to produce a healthy and cohesive family unit.

The family participants described feelings of anger, shame, love, and most importantly, a genuine awkwardness in terms of forgiving their loved ones in treatment for some of the devastating manifestations of their addiction. Addiction breaks up families, destroys trust, and damages communication. While education for family members is important, it does nothing to heal the damage that addiction has caused to the family unit. This can only be accomplished by creating a therapeutic alliance between the family member and the client in treatment.

Furthermore, I contend that clients who successfully complete treatment and family members, who successfully complete the family program, being brought together in a safe environment could only accelerate the process of forgiveness, and more importantly begin the process of building authentic trust; ultimately this process would develop a better quality of life for all. The importance of self-communication and reconnection between the family member and the client in treatment is a critical component of a comprehensive program.

The final theme that emerged from this research was the importance of continuing to offer high quality programs for family members and clients in treatment in a very cost-effective manner. A significant amount of qualitative data indicated that this program was a very much-needed resource in our local community based on the participants' feedback in the questionnaires. While the research project was problematic in some areas, the benefits associated with this program far outweigh any of the challenges that we encountered. We have since replicated this program and are committed to continue to do so for a period of one year. Having implemented some of the lessons learned in the second and third programs that we have subsequently offered, the data has varied significantly from the first attempt at running this program. In terms of overall cost, because the organization has locations, access to printed material, and internal transportation should it be needed; the cost per participant is relatively

inexpensive. We will continue to evaluate our family program and make adjustments to the curriculum and syllabus as the data indicates, so we may continue to serve our community with this valuable resource.

References

- Alcoholics Anonymous. (2001). *Alcoholics Anonymous: The big book*. New York: Alcoholic Anonymous World Services Inc.
- Bacci, G. (2002, April 21). Holistic approach to substance abuse. *The Toronto Sun, Lifestyle*, 40. Retrieved July 24, 2003, from the Canadian Reference Centre database.
- Berg, J. E., Anderson, S., & Alveberg, P. O. (1997). Former addicts as members of staff, and the type of activity offered to drug misusers. Do these factors influence rate of completion?

 *Addiction Research, 5(1), 39.
- Bowen, M., & Kerr, M E. (1988). Family evaluation: The role of the family as an emotional unit that governs individual behavior and development. (pp. 289-290). Markham, Ontario: Penguin Books Canada Ltd.
- Breslin, K. T., Reed, M. R., & Malone, S. B. (2003). A holistic approach to substance abuse treatment. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, *35*(2), 247.
- The Brown University Digest of Addiction Theory and Application (2000). *Coerced treatment can yield equal, better outcomes,* 19(5),2. Retrieved July 24, 2003, from the Academic Search Premier database.
- Earles, J. E. (1994). *Systemic interventions in the treatment of substance abuse* (pp. 1-59). City, State: Biola; University.
- Farabee, D., Predergrast, M., & Anglin, D. M. (1998). The effectiveness of coerced treatment for drug-abusing offenders. *Federal Probation* 62(1), 3-8.
- Freeman, D. S. (1976). Phases of family treatment. *The family coordinator* (pp. 265-270). Vancouver, BC: University of British Columbia.

- Hagemaster, J. (2000). Use of therapeutic touch in treatment of drug addictions. *Holistic Nurse Practice*, *14*(3), 14-20.
- Janzen, C. (1978), Family treatment for alcoholism: A review (pp. 135-140). National Association of Social Workers Inc.
- Karno, M. P., Beutler, L. E., & Harwood, M. T. (2002). Interactions between psychotherapy procedures and patient attributes that predict alcohol treatment effectiveness: A preliminary report. *Addictive Behaviors*, *27*, 779-797.
- Lawental, E., McLellan, T. A., Grissom, G. R., Brill, P., & O'Brien, C. (1996). Coerced treatment for substance abuse problems detected through workplace urine surveillance: Is it effective? *Journal of Substance Abuse*, 8(1), 115-128.
- McDonough, R. L., & Russell, L. (1994). Alcoholism in women: A holistic, comprehensive care model. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, 16(4), 459-465.
- Morgenstern, J., & McCrady, B. S. (1992). Curative factors in alcohol and drug treatment:

 Behavioral and disease model perspectives. *British Journal of Addiction*, 87, 901-912.
- Mottern, R. (2002). Choice therapy in coerced treatment: Using choice theory in coerced treatment for substance abuse. *International Journal of Reality Therapy*, 12(1), 20-23.
- Orford, J. (1992). Control, confront or collude: How family and society respond to excessive drinking. *British Journal of Addiction*, 87, 1513-1525.
- Ritson, E. B. (1979). Drinking problems. How most economically to intervene? *British Journal of Addiction*, 74, 359-361.
- Seraganian, Brown and Tremblay (2003). 3Randomization in a substance abuse treatment study:

 Participants who consent those who do not: *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 48(6).

Smart, R. G. (1979). Female and male alcoholics in treatment: Characteristics at intake and recovery rates, *British Journal of Addiction*, 74, 275-281

Weisner, C., Matzger, H., & Kaskutas, L. A. (2003). How important is treatment? One-year outcomes of treated and untreated alcohol-dependant individuals. *Addiction*, *98*, 901-911.







Appendix 1

Questionnaire

What is the impact of

The Inner Visions Treatment Centre's

Family Program?



"Often the longest journey one takes is from the head to the heart."

A Questionnaire

Advisory Team

Jerry TopleySenior Staff, InnerVisions Treatment CentresCory WintSenior Staff, InnerVisions Treatment CentresBrad ClancySenior Staff, InnerVisions Treatment CentresKim WeselowskiSenior Staff, InnerVisions Treatment CentresLeslie ColleySenior Staff, InnerVisions Treatment Centres

Project Researcher

Billy Weselowski Executive Director, InnerVisions Treatment Centres

Project Sponsor

InnerVisions Recovery Society

Project Advisor

Darryl Plecas, ed. D.

Team Facilitator

Survey #

© 2003 All Rights Reserved

This document may not be reproduced in any manner, in whole

Or in part, without the written permission of the InnerVisions Recovery Society of BC



August/2003

Dear Potential Research Participant.

You are invited on a voluntary basis, to participate in a research study, which will investigate the impact of The InnerVisions Treatment Centre's, Family Program, on clients and their Families.

I am conducting this study in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a MALT degree from Royal Roads University. The information gathered from these questionnaires now and in three months will be used to determine what impact this program has, how we might improve this service, and what further research we might want to do.

Your opinions are important for this study. The time it will take to complete this questionnaire is approximately 30-45 minutes. Your participation is completely voluntary, and you need only to answer the questions you feel comfortable with. All responses will be kept completely anonymous and confidential. Only the researcher will have access to the individual responses to analyze and prepare the final report.

The knowledge from this study will be available to all who participate. Should you like to receive brief summary of the results of this study, please fill out the small card at the end of the questionnaire.

By completing this survey, it is understood that you agree to having read the above information, and are freely consenting to participate in the study. If you have any questions please contact xxx-xxx-xxxx, or at e-mail to xxxxxxxxxxx Your support in this research project is greatly appreciated and I thank you for your time, input, and effort.

Sincerely,

Billy Weselowski

Participant Signature	Date
Researcher Signature	Date
Yes, I would like a brief summary of th	÷

Please send the results to this address:

Participant Signature

Date



'ab -	

What do you believe contributes to addiction, Please Indicate which phrases are the most important to you?

		Ċ					
1)	Family Connectedness Closeness of the family unit		Not connect Somewhat Adequately	connected	<u> </u>	Very conne Extremely of	
	b) Where is your family now in terms of connectedness?		Poor	☐ Fair		Good	☐ Excellent
2)	Finances Ability to live comfortably b) Where is your family now in terms of finances?		Financially Financially Financially Poor	weak		Financially Financially Good	•
3)	Communication Expression of feelings, etc. b) Where is your family now in terms of communication?		Poor comm Weak comr Adequate c			Good comm Excellent co	munication ommunication □ Excellent
4)	Respect Valuing other Family members b) Where is your family now in terms of respect?		No respect Some respect Adequate re			Good respectively Good	



6)	Stability Family stableness and constancy b) Where is your family now in terms of stability?	☐ Sor	respect me respe equate re	_ _	Good respectively.	
7)	Drinking / Using Patterns Valuing other Family members b) Where is your family now in terms of drinking/using patterns?	☐ Sor	respect me respe equate re		Good respe Excellent re Good	
8)	What is the most important contributing factor to your family's difficulties with addiction?		ulties			



	112

To what extent are family activities affected by addiction. Please indicate which phrases best represent what you think.

1)	Social/Leisure Activities Recreational time, hobbies etc. b) Where is your family now in terms of social/leisure activities?		No activity Somewhat Active Poor	active □ Fair	 Very active Extremely a	
2)	Physical Health Healthy body b) Where is your family now in terms of physical health?		Financially Financially Financially Poor	weak	Financially Financially Good	•
3)	Mental Health Healthy mindb) Where is your family now in terms of mental health?	0	Financially Financially Financially Poor	weak	 Financially Financially Good	· ·
4)	Emotional Health Healthy feelings b) Where is your family now in terms of emotional health?		Financially Financially Financially Poor	weak	Financially Financially Good	

2)	Health	າ (Physical, Emotion	al, Mental) Split it up) !	
		Not sure/dor		important at all y important	Slightly importantExtremely important
	B)	Where is the far	nily now in terms of	f health?	
		Poor	☐ Fair	Good	☐ Excellent
3)	Trust				
		□ Not sure/dor□ Important		important at all y important	Slightly importantExtremely important
	B)	Where is the far	nily now in terms of	f trust?	
		Poor	☐ Fair	Good	☐ Excellent
5)	Mostl	y important goa	ls for you and yoເ	ır fam.	
		□ Not sure/dor□ Important		important at all y important	Slightly importantExtremely important
	B)	Where is the far	nily now in terms of	f future goals / drea	ams?
		Poor	☐ Fair	☐ Good	☐ Excellent



Part III:

		terested in is what y process. Please cire			your families recovery mportant to you
1)	Cohes	sion (dope fiend te	rms eat toget	ther closeness, qu	ality time etc.)
		Not sure/don't kr		ot important at all ery important	Slightly importantExtremely important
	B)	Where is the family	now in terms	of family cohesion?	?
		☐ Poor	☐ Fair	Good	☐ Excellent
2)	Addic	tion Awareness / E	ducation		
		have had no	☐ h	ave had some	aququet
		☐ Much education	□ v	ery important	■ Extremely important
	B)	Where is the family	now in terms	of addiction aware	ness / education?
		☐ Poor	☐ Fair	Good	☐ Excellent
3)	Spiritu	uality (a beliefe in a	higher pow	er of some sort.)	
		none	□ N	ot important at all	☐ Slightly important
		☐ Important	☐ v	ery important	■ Extremely important
	B)	Where is the family	now in terms	of spirituality?	
		Poor	☐ Fair	☐ Good	☐ Excellent



4)	Hones	sty								
			Not sure/don't kno)W		Not import Very impo				mportant ly important
	B)	Wher	re is the family r	now in	terms	s of hone	esty?			
			Poor	☐ Fa	air		☐ Good			Excellent
5)	Comn	nunic	ation							
			poor			somewhat	poor		adequat	е
			Important			Very impo	rtant		Extreme	ly important
	B)	Wher	re is the family r	now in	terms	s of com	munication	?		
			Poor	☐ Fa	air		Good			Excellent
6)	Use o	f Con	nmunity Resou	rces						
			No understanding Important		_	Some Very impo	rtant		Adequat Extreme	e ly important
	B)	Wher	re is the family r	now in	terms	s of acce	ssing com	nunity	/ resour	ces?
			Poor at are the three most	☐ Fa		s that woul	Good d help your fan	n in reco		Excellent
Ba	ackgı	our	nd Informa	tion:						
	In thi	s sect	tion I need you	to prov	ide s	ome ger	neral inform	ation	about y	ourself.
1)	Have	you h	ad any previou	ıs cou	nseli	ng?			Yes	☐ No
2)	Have	you h	ad any educat	ion ab	out a	ddictio	n?		Yes	☐ No
3)	What	is you	ur age?					Αg	je	
4)	What	is you	ur gender?						Male	☐ Female

5)	Who are you in the fami	ly situation?		Relation		
6)	What is your highest level of education?			Education		
7)	Are you employed?	☐ Yes	☐ No	If so, how long?		



Comments:	
	Please offer any additional comments:

Thank You, Again.